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5-6.2

information. If aUnited States Trustee decides not to make areferral

based on the complaint of a private party, the individual should be advised
of that fact. That individua is then able to take any other action he/she
deems necessary, including making his’her own direct complaint to the
United States Attorney. Asapractical matter, where areferral is made, the
complaining party will learn some details of the investigation, since
investigative agents will usually have to contact him/her for additional
information about the complaint.

DISCOVERY OF A UNITED STATESTRUSTEE'SCRIMINAL
REFERRAL

A United States Trustee's referral of a bankruptcy fraud should not be
discoverable. "Thereisaqualified privilege against disclosing materia in
the file of a government law enforcement investigation, civil or crimina, if:
... theinvestigation is pending or, although presently closed, has a
substantial possibility of being reactivated, and revelation of the materia
may prejudice the success of the investigation or a proceeding to which the
investigation isdirected.” United Statesv. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 86 F.R.D.
603, 639 (D.C. Cir. 1979); In re Stockbridge Funding, 153 B.R. 654
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1993)(recognizing a "bankruptcy crime--investigation
privilege" for trustee's communications with United States Attorney).

Any efforts by any party to discover the contents of a criminal referral
should be reported to the United States Attorney and should be resisted
unless the United States Attorney desiresto release the referral. The
United States Attorney, as part of the discovery or plea negotiations, may
want or need to release a part or al of areferral. After aconviction, the
criminal referral should be released to the United States Probation Office
for use in the preparation of the pre-sentence report.

August, 1997

Page 15



United States Trustee Manual Bankruptcy Fraud & Abuse Enforcement Program

CHAPTER 5-7: ALLEGATIONSINVOLVING LOSSOF ESTATE ASSETSBY

5-7.1

5-7.2

5-7.2.1

5-7.2.2

A PRIVATE TRUSTEE OR AN EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF A
PRIVATE TRUSTEE

GENERALLY

The loss of estate assets or the inability to account for estate assetsisa
serious matter, and its expeditious resolution is atop priority. Allegations
of the loss of estate assets by atrustee or anyone employed or retained by
the trustee, regardless of the source, must be promptly investigated. When
the United States Trustee believes that a trustee or an employee of a
trustee is unable to account for estate assets, the procedures detailed in the
following paragraphs must be followed.

PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT AND REPORT TO THE
EXECUTIVE OFFICE

The United States Trustee must immediately notify the Assistant Director
for Review and Oversight and make a preliminary assessment of the
likelihood of actual loss.

Actionsif No L oss Has Occurred

If the preliminary assessment determines that no loss of estate assets has
occurred, the United States Trustee should prepare a recommendation to
the Assistant Director for Review and Oversight to terminate the inquiry.
The United States Trustee should detail any action taken or to be taken to
rectify any problemsidentified in the assessment. Upon concurrence of the
Deputy Director, the inquiry shall be terminated.

Actionsif L oss Has Occurred

If the preliminary assessment indicates a loss (including funds taken,
advanced without order of the court, or borrowed and later repaid by the
trustee) of estate assets, the United States Trustee shall immediately
forward a written report to the Assistant Director for Review and
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Oversight. The report should contain, at a minimum, the following

information:

1. The name and location of the trustee.

2. Whether the trustee is active or inactive.

3. The number of open cases presently being handled by the trustees.
4, The names of any persons suspected of improper conduct in the

handling of estate funds.
5. The number and location of bank accounts involved.

6. A factual narrative of the circumstances that can be verified as a
result of the preliminary assessment.

7. The United States Trustee's recommendation of proposed action
concerning the trustee and the estates under the trustee's
administration.

In addition, certain Situations, such as where there is evidence that the
trustee mishandled estate assets or failed to take adequate precautions to
safeguard the loss of estate assets, warrant immediate termination of future
case assignments.

5-7.3 DISCUSSIONS OR NEGOTIATIONS REGARDING L OSSES

When there is a suspected loss of estate assets or an inability to account for
those assets, there shall be no settlement negotiations, discussions, or
agreements initiated or entered into regarding the return of funds,
compensation, or resolution of the matter, absent the written approval of
the Deputy Director.
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5-7.4

5-7.5

ADDITIONAL ACTIONSIF TRUSTEE RESIGNATION OR
REMOVAL MAY BE SOUGHT

If it appears likely that the United States Trustee will seek to remove the
trustee from pending cases or initiate a criminal referral, or both, the
United States Trustee should immediately notify the Deputy Director, to be
followed by a written memorandum on the matter. Copies should
simultaneously be provided to the Assistant Director for Review and
Oversight and General Counsel.

Prior to requesting the trustee's resignation or instituting removal action in
pending cases, the United States Trustee shall consult on the matter with
the Deputy Director. If removal or resignation isinitiated, consideration
must be given to the appointment of a successor trustee or for the United
States Trustee to serve as the trustee pending a further review of the case
files.

INVESTIGATION OF A TRUSTEE'S FINANCIAL RECORDS

When the preliminary assessment indicates that assets cannot be accounted
for or that embezzlement has occurred, an investigation of the trustee's
case files and financial records will be initiated, with the approval of the
Deputy Director. The Assistant Director for Review and Oversight, in
consultation with the United States Trustee, will coordinate and oversee
the selection of an investigation team, the determination of the type and
amount of work required, and the nature and extent of records that must be
gathered to carry out the investigation.

To facilitate the investigation, the United States Trustee should:

1. Prepare alist, reconciled with court records, of all open cases under
the administration of the trustee.

2. If the trustee refuses to resign from assigned cases, prepare and file
appropriate pleadings to remove the trustee from al cases. All
motions to remove trustees must be reviewed and approved by the
Genera Counsel.
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3. Upon removal or resignation, request the court to order the
suspension of further hearings pending a completion of the
reconstruction. If the court does not grant the request, determine
upcoming court hearings and section 341 meetings for the cases
and arrange for coverage.

4, Obtain dl of the trustee's case files and financia records, by court
order if required, and secure them in the United States Trustee's
office.

5. Compare the trustee's case files to the open case list to identify any
missing case files and undertake reconstruction of any missing
cases.

6. Compile the trustee's latest 180-day report forms.

7. Determine the location of al financial accounts with estate funds
and obtain court orders freezing those accounts. Determine how
the bank should handle outstanding checks (e.g., process through a
particular date or call the United States Trustee for approval before
processing). New accounts should be opened in the name of the
successor trustee. Once new accounts are open, the balances from
the frozen accounts may be transferred to them. Pending
completion of the reconstruction, the successor trustee may be the
United States Trustee.

8. Obtain copies of al docket cards or sheets on all open cases and
place them in the casefile.

9. Place all information concerning either blanket or individual bonds
in each casefile.

10.  Contact professionals, such as auctioneers, to determine if funds are
due to any estates, and advise the professional that no
disbursements of funds should be made without the approval of the
United States Trustee. If the trustee is removed or resigns, notify
the computer vendor.
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5-7.6

5-8.1

11. Review case files and document any missing records (bank
statements, canceled checks, deposit dlips, certificates of deposit,
cashier's checks, etc.) relating to estate financial records.

12.  The Office of Review and Oversight will coordinate al bank
requests and may, in certain circumstances, initiate the request for
copies of al missing financia records from the appropriate financial
ingtitutions.

The format and distribution of the investigative report will be prescribed by
the Deputy Director. Because the reports may serve both civil and criminal
purposes, no single format can be set.

Absent the approva of the Deputy Director, no case files, financial records,
or other estate documents may be furnished to a successor trustee, other
than the United States Trustee, until reconstruction is complete. Further,
without approval of the Deputy Director, no disbursements should be made
in any estates until the reconstruction is complete.

CRIMINAL REFERRAL

A criminal referral concerning a trustee or anyone employed by the trustee
isasendgitive, high priority matter. It demands communication and close
coordination between the United States Trustee, the Executive Office, and
the United States Attorney. See USTM 5-3 for further information on
referrals to law enforcement agencies.

CHAPTER 5-8: BANKRUPTCY CRIMES

BANKRUPTCY REFORM ACT OF 1994

The Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1994 made severa changes to the crimina
bankruptcy sections. The old sections continue to apply to crimes
completed before the effective date of the Act, which was October 22,
1994. The new sections apply to all cases begun on or after the effective
date. It isan open question asto whether crimes committed after the
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effective date of the Act in cases that began before the effective date are
covered by the old statutes or the new statutes. Until case law resolves the
issue, the safest course of action is to use the older of the statutes.

No significant changes were made to 18 U.S.C. § 152. The paragraphs
were numbered and the United States Trustee was specifically included in
the statutory language. Although Congress stated the maximum fine as
$5,000 and five yearsin prison, 18 U.S.C. § 3571 provides the maximum
fine will be $250,000 for individuals and $500,000 for organizations.

18 U.S.C. § 153 was changed to extend coverage to more individuals who
embezzle funds from estates. The law now includes anyone who has
access to property or documents of the estate by virtue of their
participation in the administration of the estate in some officia capacity. It
also, for the first time, specifically covers employees and agents of those
who have this access.

18 U.S.C. 8§ 154 was changed to allow the United States Trustee access to
documents and accounts relating to the affairs of an estate without the
necessity of a court order.

18 U.S.C. § 156 is a new section which prohibits a bankruptcy petition
preparer from knowingly attempting to disregard the provisions of title 11
or the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure if such action results in the
dismissal of the case or proceedings. The offenseis punished as a
misdemeanor. A "bankruptcy petition preparer” is anyone, other than the
debtor's attorney or that attorney's employee, who prepares for
compensation bankruptcy documents for filing. It should be noted that the
Act aso provides civil fines and injunctive relief against bankruptcy petition
preparers who do not disclose their names, addresses, socia security
numbers, and their compensation for preparing the documents. 11 U.S.C.
§110.

18 U.S.C. 8§ 157 is the second new section. It creates afelony violation for
anyone who devises or intends to devise a scheme or artifice to defraud
and, for purposes of executing or concealing the scheme, files a petition
under title 11; files a document in a proceeding under title 11; makes afase
statement, claim, or promise in relationship to a proceeding under title 11
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5-8.2

5-8.2.1

5-8.2.2

either before or after the filing of the petition, or in relation to a proceeding
falsely asserted to be pending under title 11.

GENERAL ISSUES

Definition of " Knowingly and Fraudulently"

Each section of 18 U.S.C. § 152 requires that the acts be done "knowingly
and fraudulently." The term knowingly means that the defendant is aware
of his/her act (or failure to act) and that his/her conduct is undertaken
voluntarily and intentionally and not because of mistake or accident or
other innocent reason. It is not necessary that the government prove the
defendant knew that his/her acts or omissions were unlawful.

The term fraudulently means that the conduct was willful or done
voluntarily and intentionally and with the intent to deceive, cheat, or
defraud. Anintent to defraud is accompanied, ordinarily, by adesire or
purpose to bring about some gain or benefit to oneself or to cause some
loss to some person. See 1 Devitt and Blackmar, Federal Jury Practice and
Instructions, § 16.07 (4th ed. 1992).

Statute of Limitation

18 U.S.C. § 3282 provides that indictments must be brought within five
years of the commission of the crime. However, 18 U.S.C. § 3284
provides that the offense of concealment of assets of a debtor under title 11
is a continuing offense and the five year statute does not begin to run until
the debtor is discharged or adischarge is denied. In some cases, this
section gives additional time.

When this statute was enacted, a corporation could be granted or denied a
discharge in most cases. Under title 11, a corporation no longer receives a
discharge. Thereisno direct case law on what effect this changein title 11
has on section 3284. A literal reading of section 3284 leads to the
conclusion that there is no statute of limitationsin cases involving a
corporate bankruptcy concealment or in the case of an individual who does
not receive either a discharge or adenial of adischarge. An individua who
dismisses hig’her case before receiving a discharge would be in this
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5-8.2.3

situation. See U.S. v. Ganaposki, 72 F. Supp. 982 (M.D. Pa. 1947), which
held that Congress did not have to set a statute of limitation and, under the
clear language of the statute, the debtor did not receive a discharge and,
thus, there was no statute of limitation. But see U.S. v. Fraidin,

63 F. Supp. 271 (D. Md. 1945), and Rudin v. U.S., 254 F.2d 45 (6th Cir.),
cert. denied, 357 U.S. 930 (1958), which held that the time where the
debtor could no longer get a discharge would be used.

The rationale of these cases would indicate that a debtor who dismisses
his/her case or does not receive a discharge will either have no statute of
limitations for the crime of concealment of assets or will have the statute of
limitations begin to run on the date of dismissal or on the last day a
discharge would have been possible. The safer course of action isto use
the Rudin rationae.

The extension granted by section 3284 only appliesto the crime of
conceament. No additional time is granted for other offenses, such asfalse
oaths on petitions and schedules, even though the false oath is used to
concedl assets. U.S. v. Knall, 16 F.3d 1313, 1318 (2d Cir. 1994), cert.
denied, 115 S.Ct. 579 (1994).

18 U.S.C. 8§ 3293 provides aten year statute of limitation for the violation
of those sections of the Code that deal with financial institutions. This
includes section 1014 dealing with false loan and credit applications,
section 1344 dealing with bank fraud, and sections 1341 and 1343 dedling
with wire and mail fraud.

Attorney-Client Privilege

In certain Situations, an attorney-client privilege can be waived. The court-
appointed bankruptcy trustee may waive the attorney-client privilege of the
corporate debtor for communications prior to the declaration of
bankruptcy. Commodity Futures Trading Commission v. Weintraub, 471
U.S. 343, 353 (1985). Congress has been clear that the debtor's directors
do not have the right to assert the corporation's attorney-client privilege
against the trustee. Commodity Futures Trading Commission v.
Weintraub, 471 U.S. 343, 350 (1985). Corporate officers cannot assert an
individua attorney-client privilege to prevent disclosure of corporate
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5-8.24

communications with corporation's counsel after the corporation’s privilege
was waived by the trustee. Matter of Bevill, Breder & Schulman Asset
Management Corporation, 805 F.2d 120, 125 (3rd Cir. 1986).

The chapter 7 trustee of alimited partnership debtor has the authority to
waive the attorney-client privilege of the partnership in the case of a
criminal bankruptcy fraud trial of ageneral partner. U.S. v. Campbell,
73 F.3d 44 (5th Cir. 1996).

There is limited authority that a trustee can waive the attorney-client
privilege of an individua debtor, where there is no Fifth Amendment claim.
In re Williams, 152 B.R. 123 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 1992). There are no
reported circuit court cases holding that a trustee can waive an individual
debtor's attorney-client privilege where the debtor is asserting a Fifth
Amendment privilege.

Case law support the proposition that no attorney-client privilege attaches
to bankruptcy work papers where the information isimparted to
bankruptcy counsel for the purpose of assembly into a bankruptcy petition
and supporting schedules. Thisinformation is intended to be disclosed on
documents filed with the court and not held in confidence. U.S. v. White,
950 F.2d 426, 430 (7th Cir. 1991). Likewise, where thereis no evidence
that a debtor sought legal advice regarding disclosure when the debtor did
not reveal certain assets to their bankruptcy counsel, the attorney may
disclose the fact that he/she was not told about the existence of such assets
without violating the attorney-client privilege. U.S. v. White, 970 F.2d
328, 335 (7th Cir. 1992).

Fifth Amendment Privilege

Individual parties may exercise their right against self incrimination under
the Fifth Amendment in any proceeding. However, a debtor who has
sought the protection of the Bankruptcy Code may risk dismissal of the
bankruptcy case for failure to provide relevant information about the
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5-8.2.5

5-8.2.6

5-8.3

estate under a clam of Fifth Amendment protection. 1nre Connelly,

59 B.R. 421, 448 (Bankr. N.D. I1l. 1986). The debtor may aso face denial
of adischarge under 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(4)(d), (5), and (6). The procedure
for seeking immunity in order to force a debtor to testify is set out at
USTM 5-12.

Statutory Penalties

The statutory punishment for violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 152, 153, and 157
are up to five years imprisonment and a maximum fine of $250,000 for
individuals and $500,000 for corporations (18 U.S.C. § 3571). Practically,
however, the sentencing guidelines will determine the actual sentence based
on the amount of loss, whether court orders were obstructed, the person's
role in the offense, and other prescribed factors. See USTM 5-14.

Protective Order s/Confidentiality Agreements

A party may request a protective order or confidentiality agreement to
deny criminal investigators, including grand juries, access to evidence
developed in acivil proceeding. Requests directed to the United States
Trustee for protective orders should be reported to the General Counsel
immediately. Case trustees should be made aware that the Program's
policy is not to enter into such agreements and should be advised to
immediately contact the United States Trustee if any such agreement is
requested in one of their cases.

OVERVIEW OF 18 U.S.C § 152 VIOLATIONS

This section sets forth the most common violations that may be committed
by anyone who attempts to defeat the purposes of the Bankruptcy Code by
fraudulent means. The section is subdivided into nine separate paragraphs.
Each paragraph describes a separate crime as follows:

1. The concealment of property belonging to the estate of the debtor.
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5-8.3.1

5-8.3.1.1

2. The making of false oaths or accountsin or in relation to any case
under title 11.

3. The making of afalse declaration, certificate, verification, or
statement under the penalty of perjury in or in relation to any case
under title 11.

4. The making of false claims against the estate of a debtor.

5. The fraudulent receipt of property from a debtor.

6. Bribery, extortion, or forbearance in connection with a case under
title 11.

7. Transfer or concealment of property in contemplation of a case

under title 11, or with the intent to defeat the provisions of title 11.

8. The concealment or destruction of documents relating to the
property or affairs of the debtor.

9. The withholding of documents from the administrators of a case
under title 11.

Fraudulent Concealment of Property, 18 U.S.C. § 152(1)

"[A person who] knowingly and fraudulently conceals from a custodian,
trustee, marshal, or other officer of the court charged with the control or
custody of property, or, in connection with a case under title 11, from
creditors or the United States Trustee, any property belonging to the estate
of adebtor: [shall be fined not more than [$250,000], or imprisoned not
more than five years, or both.]"

Elements of the Offense

The government must prove:

1. The charged bankruptcy was in existence at the time of the offense.
2. The defendant fraudulently concealed property of the estate.
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The term concealed means any act done by the defendant that hides
the existence of property from anyone entitled to know of it. The
defendant does not have to physically hide the property. Failureto
list property on schedules is sufficient to conceal it from atrustee.

Property and assets are defined very broadly. The terms include
both legal and equitable interests in both tangible and intangible
property.

The property belongs to the estate.

Even if the status of an asset is doubtful, it is the duty of the debtor
to disclose its existence for afinal determination by the court. Even
if the property is ultimately determined not to be property of the
estate under the technical rules of the Bankruptcy Code, it still may
be property of the estate for the purposes of section 152. See

U.S. v. Cherek, 734 F.2d 1248, 1254 (7th Cir. 1984), cert. denied,
471 U.S. 1014 (1985). Under these circumstances, however, proof
of knowing and fraudulent intent may be difficult.

False Oath, Declaration, Account, Verification, or Statement,

18 U.S.C. §152(2)

"[A person who] knowingly and fraudulently makes a false oath or account
inor inrelation to any case under title 11 [shall be fined not more than
[$250,000], or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.]"

Elements of the Offense

1.

The charged bankruptcy was in existence at the time of the false
oath or account.

The statement was under oath.
The statement was to a material fact.

The question of whether the statement concerns a material fact isa
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5-8.3.3

guestion of fact for the jury. The Supreme Court case of U.S. v.
Gaudin, 115 S. Ct. 2310 (1995), changed the long-standing rule
that materiality was a question of law for the court. It isnot
necessary to show anyone was harmed by the false statement. Itis
sufficient that the false statement bears a reasonabl e relationship to
a bankruptcy matter.

4. The statement was false.

The government must prove the statement was known by the
defendant to be untrue when made. A non-responsive, truthful
answer to a question may not be false even if made with the intent
tomisead. Bronstonv. U.S,, 409 U.S. 352, 359 (1973).

A person making the false statement may avoid prosecution if the
statement is unequivocally recanted before it is apparent that its
false nature has or will be discovered.

To avoid the rule that two witnesses are required to prove this
offense where the defendant falsely testifies or produces other false
information before a court, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1623, may be used. This
section is discussed at USTM 5-9.13.

False Declarations, 18 U.S.C. § 152(3)

"[A person who] knowingly and fraudulently makes a false declaration,
certificate, verification, or statement under penalty of perjury as permitted
under section 1746 of title 28 in or in relation to any case under title 11
[shall be fined not more than [$250,000], or imprisoned not more than five
years, or both.]"

The elements of the offense of a false oath (discussed at 5-8.4.2.1) apply to
this section aswell. The only difference is that the false declaration must
be made under the penalty of perjury as provided by 28 U.S.C. § 1746.
This section was added to allow prosecution where the statement is not
under oath, but does have the statement above the signature or on a
certificate that it is made under the penalty of perjury as provided by

28 U.S.C. §1746.
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5-8.34

5-8.34.1

5-8.3.5

The United States Trustee should consider using the statement "under the
penalty of perjury as provided by 28 U.S.C. § 1746" on any important
statements or reports filed in connection with bankruptcy cases.

False Claims, 18 U.S.C. § 152(4)

"[A person who] knowingly and fraudulently presents any false claim for
proof against the estate of a debtor, or uses any such claim in any case
under title 11, in a personal capacity, or as or through an agent, proxy, or
attorney . . . [shall be fined not more than [$250,000], or imprisoned not
more than five years, or both.]"

A clamisalega document submitted to the court by a creditor of the
entity that has filed bankruptcy. It isimmaterial whether the claimis
reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, mature,
unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured, or unsecured.
U.S. v. Connery, 867 F.2d 929, 934 (6th Cir. 1989).

Elements of the Offense

1. Bankruptcy proceedings have commenced under title 11.

2. The defendant presents or causes to be presented a proof of claim
in the bankruptcy.

3. The proof of clam isfase asto amaterial matter.
4, The defendant knew the proof of claim was false.

Fraudulent Receipt of Property, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 152(5)

"[A person who] knowingly and fraudulently receives any material amount
of property from a debtor after the filing of a case under title 11, with
intent to defeat the provisions of title 11, [shall be fined
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5-8.35.1

5-8.3.6

not more than [$250,000], or imprisoned not more than five years, or
both.]"

This provision isvery similar to 18 U.S.C. § 152(1) since it also reaches
the concealment of assets from the trustee. The paragraph is designed
specificaly to reach defendants, including creditors, who assist debtorsin
concealing assets.

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant receives a material amount of property from a
debtor.

There are no cases that define the term "material amount.” Inview
of statutes which make theft of over $100 afelony, 18 U.S.C.

8 641, that amount could be considered material. Other statutes
make $5,000 a basis for federal jurisdiction. 18 U.S.C. § 2314.

2. Such transfer occurred after the filing of a case under title 11.

Even though a transfer occurs before filing a bankruptcy petition, a
conspiracy to violate this section could be charged if overt acts
occurred after the filing. Knoell v. U.S., 239 F.16 (3d Cir. 1917).

3. The acts were done with the intent to defeat the provisions of
title 11.

This e ement adds little to the statute. In U.S. v. Lawson, 255 F.
Supp. 261, 266 (D. Minn. 1966), the court held that this only meant
that the act was willful.

Extortion and Bribery, 18 U.S.C. § 152(6)

"[A person who] knowingly and fraudulently gives, offers, receives, or
attempts to obtain any money or property, remuneration, compensation,
reward, advantage, or promise thereof for acting or forbearing to act in
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5-8.3.6.1

5-8.3.7

any case under title 11 [shall be fined not more than [$250,000], or
imprisoned not more than five years, or both.]"

Elements of the Offense

A person who, with criminal intent, attempts to gain anything from a case
under title 11 by either acting or forbearing to act.

Thisisavery broad statute which covers all aspects of bribery and
extortion in casesinvolving title 11. There is no requirement that the act or
forbearance of acting be unlawful itself. Acting or not acting with the
requisite criminal intent is sufficient. For example, a bidder agreeing to
withdraw hig/her bid in return for money is covered. U.S. v. Weiss,

168 F. Supp. 728 (W.D. Pa. 1958).

The issue of competing plans being withdrawn in return for payment of fees
raises an issue under this statute if full disclosure is not made. U.S. v.
Dunkly, 235 F. 1000 (N.D. Cal. 1916). Full disclosure of any offersto act
or not act, e.g., compromise claims, would negate any suggestion of
crimina intent.

Fraudulent Transfer or Concealment, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 152(7)

"[A person who] in a personal capacity or as an agent or officer of any
person or corporation, in contemplation of a case under title 11 by or
against the person or any other person or corporation, or with intent to
defeat the provisions of title 11, knowingly and fraudulently transfers or
conceals any of his property or the property of such other person or
corporation [shall be fined not more than [$250,000], or imprisoned not
more than five years, or both.]"

This provision overlaps in many respects with 18 U.S.C. § 152(1). It
clearly reaches acts committed before the filing of a bankruptcy petition if
done in contemplation of such filing. All concealment and transfers done
before filing a bankruptcy petition congtitute one offense. After the filing
of bankruptcy, each separate act constitutes a separate offense.

The paragraph aso expressly reaches transfers of property, as well asthe
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5-8.3.7.1

5-8.3.8

concealment of property. This provision is useful to reach the transfer of
funds and property between related persons or corporations just before
filing a bankruptcy petition.

This section can reach improper transfers or concealment of assets of a
confirmed chapter 11 plan. Thereis no requirement in this paragraph, as
thereisin paragraph 1, that it involve property of the estate. The only
requirement is that the concealment or transfer of property bein
contemplation of, or with the intent to defeat, the provisions of title 11.
U.S. v. Messner, 107 F.3d 1448 (10th Cir. 1997).

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant transfers or conceals his/her property or the property
of another.

2. Such act of concealment or transfer was done in contemplation of a
case under title 11 or with the intent to defeat the provisions of title
11.

Although the paragraph does not state from whom the conceal ment must
be, it is safe to conclude that it must be from someone with an interest in
the bankruptcy. The same group listed in 18 U.S.C. § 152(1) would clearly
be included.

Fraudulent Destruction or Alteration of Documents, 18 U.S.C.

§ 152(8)

"[A person who] after the filing of a case under title 11 or in contemplation
thereof, knowingly and fraudulently conceals, destroys, mutilates, falsifies,
or makes afalse entry in any recorded information (including books,
documents, records, and papers) relating to the property or financial affairs
of adebtor [shall be fined not more than [$250,000], or imprisoned not
more than five years, or both.]"

Violations of this paragraph will normally involve violations of other
paragraphs of section 152. Thereis no requirement that the false entries be
under oath. The paragraph covers acts done in contemplation of
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5-8.3.8.1

5-8.3.9

5-8.3.9.1

bankruptcy, as well as acts done after filing.

Elements of the Offense

1. Proceedings in bankruptcy were filed, or contemplated and then
filed.

2. The defendant does one of the actslisted in 18 U.S.C. § 152 with
criminal intent.

3. The act affects or relates to the property or affairs of a debtor.

Documents or information that would lead to sources of funds or
assets or means of reorganizing an estate would be included.

Recording a known fraudulent transaction would be afalse entry, as
would placing false credits or debits on a company's books.

Fraudulent Withholding of Documents, 18 U.S.C. § 152(9)

"[A person who] after the filing of a case under title 11, knowingly and
fraudulently withholds from a custodian, trustee, marshal, or other officer
of the court, or a United States Trustee entitled to its possession, any
recorded information (including books, documents, records, and papers)
relating to the property or financia affairs of a debtor, shall be fined not
more than [$250,000], or imprisoned not more than five years, or both."

This paragraph will normally be used in connection with other paragraphs
charging concealment of assets. A defendant, however, can be convicted
of withholding records even if he/sheis not convicted of the actual
conceal ment of assets.

Elements of the Offense

1. A proceeding under title 11 was in existence.

2. The defendant withheld from the trustee or other person entitled to
them any documents.
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5-8.4

5-84.1

5-84.1.1

3. The documents affected or related to the affairs of a debtor.

EMBEZZL EMENT AGAINST THE ESTATE

18U.S.C. 8153

"(a) Offense. A person described in subsection (b) who knowingly and
fraudulently appropriates to the person's own use, embezzles, spends, or
transfers any property or secretes or destroys any document belonging to
the estate of a debtor shall be fined not more than [$250,000], imprisoned
not more than five years, or both.

(b) Person to Whom Section Applies. A person described in this
subsection is one who has access to property or documents belonging to an
estate by virtue of the person's participation in the administration of the
estate as a trustee, custodian, marshal, attorney, or other officer of the
court or as an agent, employee, or other person engaged by such officer to
perform a service with respect to the estate.”

Definition of Officer and Custodian

Congress amended this section in October of 1994 specifically to include
attorneys and employees of trustees and other administrators of the estate.
Even under the old section, however, the term custodian reached anyone
who came into custody of property involving an estate because of some
official position. It has reached the attorney for the trustee. Jackson v.
U.S., 72 F.2d 764 (3d Cir. 1934). It has also reached the treasurer of a
debtor under reorganization who was employed with court approval.

U.S. v. Lynch, 180 F.2d 696 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 339 U.S. 981 (1950).
See also the definition of custodianin 11 U.S.C. § 101.

Under the old statute, the term officer would reach any professional
employed by atrustee and approved by the court, such as an auctioneer.
11 U.S.C. 8§ 327. It would not, however, reach a regular employee such as
a secretary or paraegal.

The new statute clearly applies to the attorney for the debtor. It also
should reach the debtor in possession under chapter 11. A good argument
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can be made that such a debtor in possession does have access because of
that person's participation in the administration of the estate under court
approval. If so, employees of the debtor in possession would aso be
covered. Until case law resolves thisissue, however, a charge under 18
U.S.C. § 152(1) should aso be used.

5-84.1.2 Elements of the Offense

1. A case exists under title 11.

2. The defendant is a person involved with the administration of the
estate in an official capacity, or is the employee of such a person, as
an officer of the court, trustee, marshal, attorney, or custodian.

3. The defendant, with criminal intent, uses, steals property of the
estate, or secretes or destroys documents of the estate.

4, The defendant had access to such property or documents by virtue
of the defendant's participation in the administration of the estate.

If property came into the defendant's hands because of an official
position, the statute is violated even if it islater determined that the
property was not that of the estate. Meagher v. U.S., 36 F.2d 156
(9th Cir. 1929).

5-8.4.2 18 U.S.C. § 645

"Whoever, being a United States marshal, clerk, receiver, referee, trustee,

or other officer of a United States court, or any deputy, assistant, or

employee of any such officer, retains or converts to his own use or the use
of another or after demand by the party entitled thereto unlawfully retains

any money coming into his hands by virtue of his official relation, position,
or employment is guilty of embezzlement and shall be fined [$250,000], or
imprisoned not more than ten years, or both . . ."

"It shall not be a defense that the accused person had any interest in such

money or fund.”
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5-84.2.1

5-8.4.2.2

5-8.4.3

Differences from 18 U.S.C. 8§ 153

This statute is in many ways broader than the old version of 18 U.S.C.

8 153. Thereis no requirement that the embezzlement be with fraudulent
intent. U.S. v. Sharpe, 996 F.2d 125 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct.
400 (1993). Also, the statute provides that even if the defendant had an
interest in the property, it is not adefense. This should be useful when a
trustee or other professional claims to have just been taking his’her fee up
front before receiving court approval.

The statute also expressly covers the employees, assistants, and deputies of
the listed individuals, something that 18 U.S.C. § 153 did not cover until
the 1994 amendments. Thus, this statute can be used to prosecute any
employee of the trustee who steals estate money which isin the trustee's
custody.

The statute has a misdemeanor provision where the amount of money does
not exceed $100. The United States Attorney may charge less than $100
and alow a defendant to plead to a misdemeanor even if the amount, in
fact, exceeds $100.

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant is a trustee or other officer of the court or an
employee of that individual.

2. The defendant unlawfully used or retained money that came into the
defendant’s hands because of higher officia position. The statute
only covers money; it does not cover other types of property.

Adverse Interest and Conduct of Officers, 18 U.S.C. § 154

"A person who, being a custodian, trustee, marshal, or other officer of the
court--

(2) knowingly purchases, directly or indirectly, any property of the estate
of which the person is such an officer in a case under title 11;
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(2) knowingly refuses to permit a reasonable opportunity for the
inspection by partiesin interest of the documents and accounts relating to
the affairs of estates in the person's charge by parties when directed by the
court to do so; or

(3) knowingly refuses to permit a reasonable opportunity for the
inspection by the United States Trustee of the documents and accounts
relating to the affairs of an estate in the person's charge, shall be fined not
more than $5,000 and shall forfeit the person's office, which shall
thereupon become vacant."

This statute is classified as an infraction because it does not authorize any
imprisonment. It does, however, provide for the immediate removal from
office. Thiscould be useful in any case where the judge is reluctant to
remove atrustee or other professional. The term "office" is not defined in
the statute, and there are no reported cases that indicate how broad the
term "office" isinterpreted.

Of note is that the statute has no de minimis provison. Under alitera
reading of the statute, a trustee handling alarge retail merchant could not
buy any property of the retailer even if it was from the store and it was in
the regular course of business. The United States Trustee should make
trustees and other professionals aware of this statute.

5-8.4.3.1 Elements of the Offense--Improperly Acquiring Property of Estate

1. The defendant is a custodian, trustee, or other officer of the court in
acase under title 11.

2. The defendant knowingly bought, directly or indirectly, any
property of the estate.

5-8.4.3.2 Elements of the Offense--Improperly Refusing Access to Books and
Records

1. The defendant is a custodian, trustee, or other officer of the court in
acase under title 11.
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5-8.5

5-85.1

2. The defendant refuses to permit reasonable inspection of books and
accounts of the estate by a party in interest when directed to do so
by the court.

3. The defendant refuses to alow the United States Trustee
reasonabl e access to records of the estate. Thereis no requirement
for the United States Trustee to have a court order for such
inspection.

FEE AGREEMENTS, 18 U.S.C. § 155

"Whoever, being a party in interest, whether as a debtor, creditor, receiver,
trustee, or representative of any of them, or attorney for any such party in
interest, in any receivership or case under title 11 in any United States
court or under its supervision, knowingly and fraudulently enters into any
agreement, express or implied, with another such party in interest or
attorney for another such party in interest, for the purpose of fixing the fees
or other compensation to be paid to any party in interest or to any attorney
for any party in interest for services rendered in connection therewith, from
the assets of the estate, shall be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned
not more than one year, or both."

There are no reported cases under this section. The intent of the section is
to prevent parties in interest from dividing up the estate outside the control
of the bankruptcy court. The statute requires that the acts be done
knowingly and fraudulently. Failure of a party to make disclosure
statements required under the Bankruptcy Rules would be evidence of such
intent. The definition of partiesin interest is extremely broad and
essentially covers anyone involved in any way with a case under title 11.

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant is a party in interest in a case under title 11.

2. The defendant, knowingly and fraudulently, enters into any
agreement, express or implied, with another party in interest to fix
the fee or compensation paid any party in interest.
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5-8.6

5-8.6.1

3. That such fee or compensation was paid or intended to be paid
from assets of the estate.

KNOWING DISREGARD OF BANKRUPTCY LAW OR RULE,
18 U.S.C. § 156

"(a) Definitions.--In this section--

“bankruptcy petition preparer' means a person, other than the
debtor's attorney or an employee of such an attorney, who prepares for
compensation a document for filing.

“document for filing' means a petition or any other document
prepared for filing by a debtor in a United States bankruptcy court or a
United States district court in connection with a case under thistitle.

(b) Offense--

If a bankruptcy case or related proceeding is dismissed because of a
knowing attempt by a bankruptcy petition preparer in any manner to
disregard the requirements of title 11, United States Code, or the Federal
Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, the bankruptcy petition preparer shall be
fined under thistitle [not more than $100,000], imprisoned not more than 1
year, or both."

This section is useful against petition mills that file bankruptcy petitions,
that are later dismissed, for people they know are not eligible for relief; or
who, having filed the petition, knowingly take no action to complete the
proceedings by filing schedules or notifying the debtor to attend meetings.

Elements of the Offense

1. A bankruptcy petition preparer prepares documents for filing for
compensation in a United States court.

2. The bankruptcy case or related proceeding is dismissed.
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5-8.7

3. Such dismissal was caused by the knowing attempt of the
bankruptcy petition preparer to disregard the provisions of title 11
or the Federa Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.

BANKRUPTCY FRAUD, 18 U.S.C. § 157

"A person who, having devised or intending to devise a scheme or artifice
to defraud and for the purpose of executing or concealing such a scheme or
artifice or attempting to do so--

@D files a petition under title 11;
2 files a document in a proceeding under title 11; or

3 makes a false or fraudulent representation, claim, or promise
concerning or in relation to a proceeding under title 11, at any time
before or after the filing of the petition, or in relation to a
proceeding falsely asserted to be pending under such title,

shall be fined under thistitle [maximum $250,000], imprisoned not more
than 5 years, or both."

This statute allows prosecutors a significantly longer reach in the
bankruptcy fraud area. Any defendant who undertakes a fraud scheme
against anyone, or attempts to do so, and then carries out or conceals the
scheme by using bankruptcy or by filing any documents in the bankruptcy,
violates this statute. This section also is applicable against the defendant
who tries to defraud someone by falsdly telling them a case is in bankruptcy
in order to forestall the victim's actions. The crux of this statute is the
existence of afraud scheme or attempted fraud scheme and any use of the
bankruptcy system to try to carry out the scheme. For example, this statute
should be applicable to petition mills that are set up to defraud the landlord
of afew months rent, or to any bustout scheme. Likewise, a defendant
who is actively defrauding anyone violates this statute if he/she files
bankruptcy to delay or conceal the fraud.

Case law addressing the wire, bank, and mail fraud statutes (18 U.S.C.
88 1341, 1343, and 1344), which have similar language, will be very useful
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in determining the reach of this statute. Congress deliberately chose
language from those statutes to insure a broad reach.

5-8.7.1 Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant has devised or has intended to devise a scheme or
artifice to defraud another.

2. The defendant, for the purpose of executing or concealing the
scheme or artifice or attempting to do so,

a files a petition under title 11; or

b. files a document in a proceeding under title 11; or

C. makes a false or fraudulent statement in connection with a
proceeding under title 11 or a proceeding the defendant
falsely assertsis pending under title 11.

CHAPTER 5-9: OTHER BANKRUPTCY RELATED CRIMES

5-90.1 MISPRISION OF A FELONY, 18U.SC. 84

"Whoever, having knowledge of the actual commission of afelony
cognizable by a court of the United States, conceals and, does not, as soon
as possible, make known the same to some judge or other person in civil or
military authority under the United States, shall be fined not more that
$500 or imprisoned not more than three years, or both."

This statute, while afelony, carries alesser penalty than most other
bankruptcy criminal statutes. The United States Attorney may use this to
prosecute individuals who aid in a bankruptcy violation, but are not the
main participants.
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5-9.1.1

5-9.2

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant has actual knowledge of a crime under the laws of
the United States.

Violations of state law are not covered under this statute.
2. The defendant does some act to conceal the violation.

Mere knowledge of the commission of a crimeis not sufficient to
convict. The defendant must do something to conceal the crime
after learning of it. Where the defendant has an affirmative duty to
report facts that would disclose a crime and the defendant does not
make that report, then there is a conceal ment.

3. The defendant does not promptly report the crime to an officer of
the United States.

BRIBERY OF PUBLIC OFFICIALSAND WITNESSES, 18 U.S.C.
§201

This statute covers two distinct groups of offenses. The first, "Public
Officials," would, within the bankruptcy system, cover the offices of the
United States Trustee, the clerk's office, and judges. It would not cover
private trustees or professionals. Prosecutions under this part of the statute
are covered in the Department's publication titled, Prosecution of Public
Corruption Cases (1988).

The second part of the statute covers any attempt to bribe a witness, or an
offer by awitnessto take a bribe, in any case before a court, Congress, or
other officer authorized to take testimony or hear evidence under the laws
of the United States. Thus, a debtor who pays awitnessto give false
testimony could be prosecuted under this statute. A witness corruptly
seeking payment for false evidence could also be prosecuted even if no
payment or testimony was actualy given.
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5-9.3

5-9.3.1

5-9.3.2

5-9.4

5-94.1

CONSPIRACY,18U.S.C. 8371

This statute covers two distinct categories of offenses against the United
States.

Conspiracy to Defraud the United States

Where two or more individuals agree to defraud the United States or any
agency thereof, and then do at least one overt act in furtherance of that
agreement, the crime of conspiracy is completed. Thereis no requirement
that the actual fraud be accomplished. Interference or obstruction of a
legitimate government function isaviolation, just asis a scheme to obtain
government property or money by fraud.

This section is useful when more than one defendant is involved and the
schemeis not fully carried out. Because of favorable rules of evidencein
conspiracy cases, the United States Attorney often uses this statute.

Conspiracy to Violate L aws of the United States

The second part of this statute covers any agreement between at least two
people to violate any law of the United States, followed by at least one
overt act to accomplish that violation. It is not necessary that the actual
substantive violation be completed or that the overt act itself beillegal. An
agreement to violate state law is not covered by this statute. Conspiracy
charges often may be combined with substantive violations that are
completed because of favorable rules of evidence. It also will alow a
conviction in some cases even though the jury finds the defendant did not
compl ete the substantive act charged.

CONTEMPT OF COURT, 18 U.S.C. 88 401 AND 402

What Constitutes Contempt

Contempt of court may be defined generally as an act of disobedience or
disrespect toward the judicial branch of the government, or an interference
with its orderly process. It isan offense against a court of justice or a
person to whom the judicial functions of the sovereign have been
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5-9.4.2

delegated. U.S. v. Trudell, 563 F.2d 889 (8th Cir. 1977).

Criminal contempt is designed to punish a defendant for his/her conduct
and to vindicate the authority of the court. Downey v. Clauder, 30 F.3d
681 (6th Cir. 1994). Criminal contempt, unlike civil contempt, cannot be
purged by later compliance with a court's orders. International Union,
United Mine Workers of Am. v. Bagwell, 512 U.S. 821 (1994). Itis
critical to specify that criminal contempt is being considered. Failure to
give a person fair notice that criminal contempt is being sought will result
inreversal. Downey at 686.

Authority of the Bankruptcy Court

The rule in some circuitsis that the bankruptcy court does not have the
authority to hold a defendant in criminal contempt for conduct outside the
court's presence. See In re Hipp, 895 F.2d 1503 (5th Cir. 1990), and the
cases cited therein. (After remand, the defendant was convicted of criminal
contempt by the district court because he violated a direct, personal order
of the bankruptcy judge, In re Hipp, 5 F.3d 109 (5th Cir. 1993).)

Following the Supreme Court decision in Chambersv. NASCO, 501 U.S.
32 (1991), the Ninth Circuit recently switched sides on this question and
now holds that under Bankruptcy Rule 9020 bankruptcy courts do have
contempt powers. Inre Rainbow Magazine, 77 F.3d 278 (9th Cir. 1996).
Under Rule 9020, the bankruptcy judge can find a person in civil or
criminal contempt after giving detailed notice and holding a hearing. The
bankruptcy judge's order of contempt has the same effect as adistrict
judge's order unless, within ten days of service of the order of contempt,
the contemptor files objections under Bankruptcy Rule 9033. If objections
arefiled, the matter is heard de novo on the record or on such additional
evidence as the district court desires to hear.

Chambers, In re Rainbow Magazine, and In re Skinner, 917 F.2d 444 (10th
Cir. 1990), give the bankruptcy court power to impose civil sanctions
under either Bankruptcy Rule 9011 or section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy
Code.
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5-9.4.3

5-9.5

5-951

Authority of the District Court

The district court, as an Article 111 court, has unquestioned civil and
criminal contempt power. If abankruptcy judge is concerned about
jurisdiction or the law in the circuit is unclear, cases involving contempt,
especialy criminal contempt, can be certified or referred by the bankruptcy
judge to the district court for action.

Except in cases where the contempt is in the presence of the court and the
contempt is handled by summary punishment, the United States Attorney
will handle the case as the prosecutor. Only in unusual cases will the
United States Attorney decline to prosecute a contempt matter referred by
adistrict judge.

The area of contempt is complex. The United States Attorney's office
should be consulted before contempt proceedings are undertaken. Criminal
contempt may be the only viable solution to petition mills, seria filers, and
other defendants who abuse the bankruptcy system in a systematic way.

THEFT AND EMBEZZLEMENT FROM EMPLOYEE PENSION
PLANS, 18 U.S.C. § 664

Any embezzlement, theft, or conversion of any asset of an employee benefit
or welfare plan is aviolation of this section, provided the plan is subject to
the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
(ERISA). 29 U.S.C. 8 1001 et seg.. Almost any type of retirement or
benefit plan that provides retirement, health, or other benefits for
employees will be covered under ERISA.

Jurisdiction to investigate violations of ERISA falls under the Office of the
Inspector General, Department of Labor. The Federa Bureau of
Investigation also has jurisdiction.

Elements of the Offense

1. The plan involved is a plan within the meaning of ERISA.
29 U.S.C. §1001 et seq..
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5-9.6

5-9.6.1

2. The defendant willfully depletes the assets of the fund. The acts of
the defendant must be with fraudulent intent. The defendant does
not have to be atrustee or other fiduciary of the plan.

This statute will often have application in bankruptcy cases involving
companies. The owners and officers of afailing business will view the
assets of the company health and benefit fund as a resource to be used for
other than proper purposes. The Department of Labor is aggressivein
protecting the assets of these plans and usually will attempt to work the
cases where there is evidence of fraud. They also have civil remedies that
can assist employees in some cases.

ARSON INVOLVING INTERSTATE COMMERCE, 18 U.S.C.
§ 844(i)

This statute punishes any person who maliciously damages or attempts to
damage by fire or explosive any building, vehicle, and rea or personal
property used in interstate commerce or affecting interstate commerce.
Individuals who destroy records or other property of an estate violate this
statute. Investigations of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 844 are conducted by agents of the
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF) of the Treasury
Department. Depending on local conditions, these agents may be able to
work a case that other agencies do not have the resources to timely
investigate.

The definition of "interstate commerce" or "affecting interstate commerce”
covers amost any type of commercial activity. Inany case involving
possible arson, consideration should be given to contacting agents of the
ATF.

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant maliciously damages or destroys real or persona
property.

2. The damage was done by means of fire or explosives.

3. Such property was used in interstate or foreign commerce or in any
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5-9.7

5-9.7.1

5-9.7.2

5-9.7.3

activity affecting such commerce.

FALSE STATEMENTSAND SCHEMES, 18 U.S.C. § 1001

This section prohibits anyone within the jurisdiction of any department or
agency of the United States from knowingly and willfully falsifying,
concealing, or covering up, by any means, a materia fact, or making afalse
statement or using any false document knowing that it contains false or
fraudulent information.

Differencesfrom 18 U.S.C. § 152

There is no requirement that the statement or document be under oath.
Thus, unsworn statements, either oral or written, may be prosecuted under
this section. Operating reports and other statements of a debtor in
possession would be covered. Thereis no requirement that an intent to
defraud be proved, U.S. v. Vaughn, 797 F.2d 1485 (9th Cir. 1986), but, as
apractical matter, unless there is some intent to defraud, the case normally
will be declined.

Statements Made to Courts

On May 15, 1995, the Supreme Court resolved a serious split in the circuit
courts of appeals over whether statements made or submitted to courts are
covered by 18 U.S.C. § 1001. The Court overruled U.Sv. Bramblett, 348
U.S. 503 (1955), and held in Hubbard v. U.S,, 115 S. Ct. 1754 (1995), that
the term "department” did not include the legidative and judicia branches.
The false statements in Hubbard involved filing fal se pleadings with the
bankruptcy court.

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant made or used a false statement, falsified anything, or
concealed or covered up anything concerning a material matter to
an agency or department of the executive branch.

For years, the issue of materiality was a question of law to be
decided by the court. InU.S. v. Gaudin, 115 S. Ct. 2310 (1995),
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5-9.8

5-9.8.1

however, the Supreme Court held that issues of materiality are
mixed questions of law and fact that must be submitted to the jury
as an element of the offense.

The test is whether the statement or document has a natural
tendency to influence or be capable of influencing the proceeding.
There is no requirement that the statement or document actually
harm a creditor or other person. U.S. v. O'Donnell, 539 F.2d 1233
(9th Cir.), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 960 (1976).

2. The act was within the jurisdiction of a department or agency of the
United States. As noted above, this does not include statements
made to courts or to Congress.

3. The act was done knowingly and willfully. An act can be done
knowingly if the defendant has a reckless disregard of whether it is
true and makes a conscious effort to avoid learning the truth.

U.S. v. Evans, 559 F.2d 244 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S.
1015 (1978).

FALSE STATEMENTSTO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, 18 U.S.C.
§1014

This statute prohibits knowingly making a false statement or report, or
willfully overvaluing any property or security, for the purpose of
influencing any action of listed financial institutions in relation to loans or
securities for loans. (10 year statute of limitation, 18 U.S.C. § 3293.)

Relationship to 18 U.S.C. 8§ 152

In many bankruptcy cases, the debtor will have furnished financial
statements to financial institutions around the time of the bankruptcy filing.
A comparison of these financia statements with the bankruptcy schedules
often shows significant differences. While the financia statements to banks
use afair market value and bankruptcy schedules tend to use forced sale
values, the differences are often the result of fraud in one place or the
other.
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5-9.8.2

5-9.9

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant made a false statement or willfully overvalued
property or security, knowing the same to be false.

2. The purpose was to influence the action of afinancial institution.
There is no requirement that the financia institution actualy be
influenced or harmed, or that it even relied on the statement. Itis
sufficient if the act was capable of influencing the institution.
U.S. v. Kay, 303 U.S. 1 (1938).

3. The financial ingtitution was one listed in the statute.

The statute lists almost every government agency dealing with
credit and banks that are insured or supervised by the federal

government.

MAIL, WIRE, AND BANK FRAUD, 18 U.S.C. 88 1341-44

The mail and wire fraud statutes (18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343) prohibit
any scheme or artifice to defraud or to obtain money or property by false
promises, representation, or pretenses, or to attempt to do so.

As of September 13, 1994, the mail fraud statute also includes any matter
or thing sent or delivered by any private or commercial interstate carrier.
There is no requirement that the mail move in interstate commerce.
Deliveries by private or commercia interstate carriers, such as UPS and
Federal Express, areincluded even if the delivery isin-state.

The wire fraud statute requires that the wire, telephone, radio, fax,
television, etc. message be transmitted in interstate commerce.

The bank fraud statute (18 U.S.C. 8§ 1344) requires that the scheme or
artifice, or the attempt, be directed against a financial institution as defined
in 18 U.S.C. 8 20. Thisincludes all commercia banks insured or
supervised by the United States. (Thereisa 10 year statute of limitation if
the offense involves afinancia ingtitution, 18 U.S.C. § 3293))
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5-9.9.1

5-9.10

Elements of the Offenses

1. The defendant devised a scheme or artifice, or attempted to do so,
to defraud or obtain money or property by means of false promises,
representations, or pretenses.

2. The defendant used or caused the mail or private or commercial
interstate carrier services to be used, or used any wire, radio, or
television facility in interstate commerce, or sought to defraud a
defined financial institution.

It is not necessary that the scheme be successful. The statutes also reach
schemes or artifices designed to deprive anyone of the intangible right of
honest services. This covers bribery of public officias, as well as bribery of
employees of private businesses.

These statutes can easily reach bustout schemes in bankruptcy. They aso
reach credit card schemes where false information is furnished to obtain
credit cards. In addition, they may reach typing mills and other types of
fraudulent schemes. Jurisdiction for mail fraud rests with the Postal
Inspectors; the Federal Bureau of Investigation has jurisdiction for the
other statutes.

OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE, 18 U.S.C. 88§ 1503 AND 1505

These sections prohibit anyone from corruptly using force, threats of force,
or threatening communication to obstruct or endeavor to obstruct or
impede the due administration of law before a court (section 1503) or
before any department or agency or Congress (section 1505). These
sections are designed to protect the integrity of the judicial and
administrative systems. They aso prohibit any retaliation against any juror
or other officer carrying out duties involving the administration of justice.
A threat against a United States Trustee employee conducting a

section 341 meeting would be covered by this statute.

This section could arguably be applied to threats or actions against a case
trustee and his’her employees for carrying out court directed duties or
actions, such as conducting section 341 meetings or selling estate property.
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5-9.10.1

5-0.11

5-9.111

5-9.12

Elements of the Offenses

1. The defendant corruptly uses force, threat of force, or threatening
communications.

Corruptly means with a specific intent to obstruct justice, i.e., with
an improper motive or purpose. U.S. v. Haas, 583 F.2d 216 (5th
Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 981 (1979).

2. The acts were intended to influence, impede, or intimidate jurors or
court officers or to obstruct the due administration of justice.

OBSTRUCTION OF COURT ORDERS, 18 U.S.C. § 1509

This statute prohibits anyone from willfully interfering or attempting to
interfere with anyone carrying out court orders. The statuteisa
misdemeanor and could be used to prosecute defendants who refuse to
obey turn over ordersissued by the bankruptcy court. Use of this statute
would alow the defendant to plead to a misdemeanor rather than a felony
for section 152 violations.

Elements of the Offense

1. There is ajudgment, decree, or order of a court of the United
States.

2. The defendant, by threat or force, willfully obstructs or attempts to
obstruct the exercise of rights or duties under that order.

TAMPERING WITH WITNESSESOR VICTIMS, 18 U.S.C. § 1512

This section was part of the Victim Witness Protection Act of 1982. Itis
designed to give broad protection to witnesses and victims, and to prevent
any obstruction of investigations or proceedings. It prohibits any threats,
intimidation, or retaliation against anyone because of their participation in
investigative or judicial proceedings. It prohibits attempts to get anyone to
withhold evidence, destroy or alter records or other evidence, or evade
service of process.
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5-9.13

5-9.13.1

This section is extremely broad and should be considered any time
obstruction of justice is suspected. The Federal Bureau of Investigation
has investigative jurisdiction in this area.

FALSE STATEMENTSIN A JUDICIAL PROCEEDING, 18 U.S.C.
88 1621 AND 1623

Useof 18 U.S.C. § 1623 over § 1621

Section 1621 is the traditional perjury statute. It requires proof of perjury
by two witnesses or one witness and independent corroborative evidence.
U.S. v. Maultasch, 596 F.2d 19 (2d Cir. 1979). Section 1621 appliesto
any evidence or testimony given before a person authorized to administer
an oath. Itisnot limited to testimony before a court or grand jury.

Section 1623 does away with the "two witness' rule and alows a
defendant to be convicted where the defendant makes inconsi stent
statements in the same proceeding. With inconsistent statements, the
government only has to show that the statements were irreconcilably
contradictory and the defendant did not believe both to be true at the time
they were made. The government does not have to prove which of the
statementsisfalse. This section can also be used to prosecute the "l don't
remember" answer where it can be shown that the witness did know at one
time and has, in fact, not forgotten. It also coversthe use of false
information or documents. The term "proceeding” covers any aspect of the
same matter; two separate hearings in the same case would be covered.

Section 1623 applies only to statements made before a court or grand jury.
It provides that it is a defense if the defendant recants a false statement in
the same proceeding before the false statement substantially affects the
proceeding or it is manifest that the falsity of the statement either has been
or will be exposed.

Where false testimony is before a court or grand jury, section 1623 is
almost always used.
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5-9.13.2

5-9.14

5-9.14.1

5-9.14.2

Elements of the Offenses

1. The defendant must be under oath.

2. The defendant must make a false statement or, in the case of
section 1623, use false documents or make either a false statement
or irreconcilably inconsistent statements.

3. The fase statement must be material. Materidlity is a question of
fact for thejury. U.S. v. Gaudin, 115 S. Ct. 2310 (1995).

4. The defendant must know the statement or document isfalse at the
timeit is made or used.

RECEIVER MISMANAGING PROPERTY, 18 U.S.C. §1911

This statute prohibits any receiver, trustee, or manager in possession of
property in any case pending before a court of the United States from
willfully failing to manage or operate such property in accordance with the
law of the state where the property islocated.

Application in Chapter 11 Casesto Debtor in Possession

This statute is a misdemeanor which applies to a debtor in possession, as
well as atrustee and other professionals who have charge of property. It
may provide a misdemeanor charge that a defendant can plead to where the
amount of lossis not sufficient to justify afelony charge.

Elements of the Offense

1. The defendant is atrustee, receiver, or manager of property ina
case pending before a court of the United States.

2. The defendant willfully fails to manage or operate such property in
accordance with the laws of the state where it was located in the
same manner the former owner or possessor would have been
bound to do if in possession.
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5-9.15

5-9.15.1

MONEY LAUNDERING, 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 AND 1957

These statutes were enacted in 1986 as part of the Anti-Drug Abuse Act.
While they are primarily aimed at drug and drug-related offenses, they
specificaly include transactions that are based on violations of 18 U.S.C.
8 152 insofar as they relate to concealing assets, false oaths, claims, and

bribery.

Investigative jurisdiction may involve postal inspectors, Secret Service,
Internal Revenue Service crimina investigators, or the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, or a combination of agents. The penalties for violation of
these sections are generally higher than for ssimple bankruptcy fraud.
Prosecutions of these cases have a high priority with the Department of
Justice. Accordingly, where it appears significant amounts of money (more
than $10,000) have been moved about in bankruptcy cases, consideration
should be given to these statutes.

[llegal " Financial Transactions," 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)

This section prohibits a person from conducting financial transactions with
either: (1) the intent to promote a "specified unlawful activity" (which
includes 18 U.S.C. § 152, but not the new § 157); or (2) the knowledge
that the transaction is designed (a) to conceal or disguise the nature,
location, source, ownership, or control of the proceeds of a specified
unlawful activity or (b) to avoid afederal or state reporting requirement.

Financial transactions are defined to include any use of interstate or foreign
commerce to move money or monetary instruments, or involves the
transfer of title of real property or vehicle, vessel, or aircraft, or uses a
financid ingtitution.

A defendant who, while in bankruptcy, files false schedules concealing real
property and thereafter transfers that property to another would violate this
section.
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5-9.15.2

5-9.15.3

5-9.16

[llegal " Transporting Funds or Monetary |nstruments,” 18 U.S.C.
8 1956(a)(2)

This section issimilar to 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956 (a)(1) except that instead of
involving a"financia transaction” it requires the effort to move funds or
monetary instruments to or from the United States from any point outside
the United States.

[llegal Use of " Financial | nstitution," 18 U.S.C. § 1957(a)

This section is, in effect, a "receiving and depositing illegal proceeds’
section. The offense is completed if the defendant: (1) engagesin a
monetary transaction; (2) at afinancia institution; (3) with knowledge that
the transaction involves the proceeds of some unlawful activity; (4) the
unlawful activity is one of the specified unlawful activities, and (5) involves
more that $10,000.

This statute would apply to atrustee or debtor in possession who stole
money from an estate and then bought a $20,000 cashiers check to deposit
in asecret bank account. While aliteral reading of the statute would allow
it to apply to any deposit of stolen bankruptcy money in a bank account by
the thief, Department policy requires that the deposit be in a second
transaction, i.e., once removed from the theft.

RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS
(RICO). 18 U.S.C. 88 1961 AND 1962

Application of this statute requires the approva of the Crimina Division of
the Department of Justice before indictments or civil complaints can be
filed. Because of the complex nature of this statute and the severe
penalties involved, it is only used in cases involving significant criminal
activity.

The statute lists as a "racketeering activity" any fraud under title 11, except
18 U.S.C. 8 157. A "pattern of racketeering activity" means two acts of
racketeering activity committed within ten years of each other.

18 U.S.C. § 1962 prohibits anyone from using the income from a pattern of

Page 58

August, 1997



United States Trustee Manual Bankruptcy Fraud & Abuse Enforcement Program

5-9.17

5-9.18

5-9.19

racketeering activity in any way that affects interstate commerce, or from
using a pattern of racketeering to control any business engaged in interstate
commerce, or conducting the affairs of a business through a pattern of
racketeering activities.

The statute also provides severe criminal and civil forfeiture penalties.

INTERSTATE TRANSPORTATION OF STOLEN PROPERTY,
18U.S.C. §2314

This statute prohibits the interstate transportation of property, securities, or
money of avalue of $5,000 or more if they are known to be stolen,
converted, or obtained by fraud. The transportation may be by the
defendant or he/she may cause the transportation to take place.

SALE OR RECEIPT OF STOLEN PROPERTY, 18 U.S.C. § 2315

This section prohibits a defendant from receiving, possessing, concealing,
storing, selling, or disposing of property, securities, or money of avalue of
$5,000 or more which has crossed a state line after being stolen, converted,
or taken, where the defendant knows the property has been stolen. There
is no requirement that the defendant know the property crossed state lines,
only that the property was stolen, converted, or taken.

FRAUDULENT USE OF CREDIT CARDS, 15U.S.C. §1644

The knowing use in a transaction affecting interstate commerce of a stolen,
atered, or fraudulently obtained credit card to obtain anything of value of
$1,000 or greater in a one year period is aviolation of this section.

This statute would be appropriate where it appears a debtor obtained a
credit card by fraud through use of false information and then ran up debts
in excess of $1,000 in ayear. Debtors who run up large credit card debts
may try to discharge them through bankruptcy. Excessive credit card debt
should be examined for the possibility of fraud. The Secret Service has
investigative jurisdiction over this statute.
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5-9.20

5-9.21

5-9.21.1

EQUITY SKIMMING, 12 U.S.C. § 1709-2

This statute prohibits anyone, with the intent to defraud, from willfully
engaging in a pattern or practice of purchasing one- to four-family
dwellings (including condominiums and cooperatives) that are subject to
loans in default at the time or which go into default within one year from
failling to make payments on the debt where the rents are collected and
diverted to the defendant's use. The debt on the dwellings must be made,
insured, or held by Housing and Urban Development (HUD) or the
Veteran's Administration (VA).

Individuals involved in equity skimming may steal money and then, when
HUD or the VA start foreclosure proceedings, file bankruptcy. Even if
they stop stealing at the point of filing, this statute has been violated. |If
they continue to steal while acting as a debtor in possession, 18 U.S.C.
8 152 will also beviolated. Violations of this statute are investigated by
the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the Inspector General of HUD.

TAX OFFENSES

The tax offenses identified in the following sub sections are investigated by
agents of the Criminal Investigation Division (CID) of the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS). Because of disclosure limitations, CID agents are not able
to discuss tax investigations with anyone outside the IRS, except in very
limited circumstances, until the matter has been formally referred to the
Department of Justice. Prosecution of these violations also must be
approved by the Tax Division of the Department of Justice before the local
United States Attorney may prosecute.

Suspected violation of tax laws should be reported to the IRS either
through their District Counsel or the CID.

Tax Evasion, 26 U.S.C. § 7201

This section prohibits anyone from willfully attempting to evade or defeat
any tax imposed under title 26. Thisisafelony violation.
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5-9.21.2

5-9.21.3

5-9.21.4

The IRS will not recommend prosecution unless there is a substantial tax
due and owing and the proof of willfulnessis strong.

Failureto Pay Withholding Taxes, 26 U.S.C. § 7202

This felony statute prohibits a defendant from willfully failing to collect,
account, or pay over taxes he/she isrequired to collect, account for, or pay
over. The normal use of this statute is the willful failure to pay taxes
withheld from employee wages.

To establish willfulness under this section it must be shown that the
defendant withheld taxes from the employee and then failed to pay when
the defendant had the ability to pay. In many bankruptcy cases, the IRSis
unable to establish the ability to pay. Accordingly, this section is seldom
used despite the serious |oss of revenue in many cases.

Failureto File, 26 U.S.C. § 7203

This section allows a misdemeanor prosecution of a defendant who
willfully failsto file areturn, keep required records, supply required
records, or pay estimated or other taxes.

The IRS will not, as arule, recommend prosecution under this section
unless there are taxes due and owing and proof of willfulnessis strong.
For failure to file income tax returns, they normally require the failure to
involve more than one year.

Fraud And False Statements, 26 U.S.C. § 7206

This section, in many ways, paralels 18 U.S.C. § 152 because it punishes
submitting statements, returns, or other documents made under the
penalties of perjury. It forbids the removal or concealment of property
subject to taxes with the intent to evade payment, and the withholding,
falsifying, or destroying of any documents relating to the estate of the
taxpayer.
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5-9.22

5-9.23

REPORTING MONETARY TRANSACTIONS, 31 U.S.C. 8§ 5311-28

These statutes collectively set up requirements for the reporting of
movements of cash and other monetary transactions within the United
States and to and from the United States. Under regulation issued by the
Secretary of the Treasury, cash transactions over $10,000 must be reported
to the Department of Treasury.

"Financia Institution” is defined very broadly in 31 U.S.C. § 5312(a)(2). It
coverstravel agencies, real estate brokers, etc. Form 4789, Cash
Transaction Report, is used to report these transactions. It requires a
description of the transaction and the identification of the partiesto the
transaction. The financial institution must file this report on each covered
transaction. A Form 8300, Report of Cash, (including many monetary
instruments) is also used to report payments of over $10,000 received in a
trade or business. This covers lawyers, doctors, car dealers, retail stores,
etc. There are similar reports required for anyone taking money or
monetary instrumentsin or out of the country.

Attempting to break covered transactions into several small transactions or
providing false information is prohibited by 31 U.S.C. § 5324 and
18 U.S.C. § 1956.

These reports are collected in the Internal Revenue Service's Data Center
in Detroit, Michigan. In some cases, the United States Trustee may want
to secure information on these reports where it appears a debtor has
engaged in covered transactions. Under the provisions of 31 U.S.C.

8 5319, thisinformation may be secured by arequest of the Director
through the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FInCEN) of the
Department of Treasury.

USE OF FALSE SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER, 42 U.S.C.
8 408(a)(7)(B)

This section prohibits anyone, with an intent to deceive, from falsely
representing a social security number to be assigned to the defendant or
another person when in fact the social security number is not assigned to
the defendant or such other person.
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This section is very useful in prosecuting individuals who use false socia
security numbers in any way in the bankruptcy system. The intent to
decelveis clear in cases where the debtor is using the false number to avoid
detection of earlier bankruptcy cases, to hide assets, or avoid aerting
creditors that the defendant has filed bankruptcy.

Violations of this section are investigated by the Inspector General of the
Social Security Administration.

CHAPTER 5-10: COMMON FRAUD SCHEMES INVOLVING BANKRUPTCY

5-10.1

5-10.2

GENERALLY

While simply concealing assets or making false statements in a bankruptcy
proceeding make up the majority of bankruptcy frauds, there are a number
of fraud schemes that are more complicated and are primarily designed to
use the automatic stay provided by the bankruptcy laws to concea an
earlier crime, maximize profit from an ongoing fraud scheme, or buy time
while the perpetrator finds away to avoid victims or leave town.

The following sections detail some of the more common schemes. They
are merely illustrative lists of common warning signs identified for each
fraud scheme; many of the factors listed may be present in situations where
thereisno fraud. It isimportant to analyze al the factors in determining
whether a fraud has been perpetrated.

BUSTOUTS

A bustout is conducted by a company that is set up to fail from the outset.
The operator obtains merchandise from creditors, disposes of the goods
(usually for cash), and does not pay suppliers. A bustout can also be
conducted using an existing company's credit to obtain goods available on
credit, without the intent to pay, and then disposing of the goods
immediately for cash.
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5-10.2.1

5-10.2.1.1

5-10.2.1.2

5-10.2.1.3

5-10.2.1.4

Examples of Bustouts

Consumer Products Distributors

A company operates for short period of time and establishes good credit
ratings with large consumer goods manufacturers. Orders increase
suddenly and payments are not made. Lulling techniques are used to
forestall creditors. Goods are sold to retailers at below cost for cash.
Bankruptcy isfiled. Schedules show large trade debt owed to consumer
products manufacturers with inventory unusually low compared to the date
the debt was incurred.

Retail Bustouts

A company rents retail space and does not pay rent or suppliers.
Bankruptcy isfiled to stop eviction and to gain additional time to continue
itsillegal operation. Often times, these retail stores are part of distributor
bustouts because they provide retail outlets for the consumable goods.

Tax Bustouts

Anindividua operates a series of businesses in the same industry and fails
to pay taxes. He/she then usually files chapter 11 bankruptcy for the
company just prior to or at the time the Internal Revenue Servicefilesa
lien on the debtor's assets. The company operates for a brief period of time
in chapter 11 before the case is converted or dismissed. A new businessis
then started with the debtor's assets.

Credit Card Bustouts

Individuals in contemplation of bankruptcy run up large consumer credit
card debt and then file bankruptcy. Purchases and cash advances occur
within a short period of time. Frequently, the same individual files
bankruptcy severa times using false social security numbers or aliases, or
assumes another person’'s name or socia security number. False statements
are usually made on credit applications and the assets acquired from the
fraud are concealed when the bankruptcy isfiled.
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5-10.2.1.5 Travel Agency Bustouts
A travel agency opens and secures plates from an airline cooperative
agency to write tickets. After paying the first few bills, atremendous
number of tickets, often overseas tickets, are written and not paid for.
They are sold for cash in bargain sales. The travel agency may report the
authorization plates stolen to continue the scheme. Plates and blank ticket
stocks are often missing when the trustee or airline attempts to recover
them.
5-10.2.2 Red Flag¥Common Char acteristics of a Bustout
1. Company with a short life.
2. Well-established company with good credit recently taken over by a
new group who attempts to hide the change in ownership.
3. Fraudulent financial statements.
4, False credit references.
5. No receivables listed on schedules (cash basis operation).
6. Scheduled inventory is very low.
7. Warehouse full of high volume, low cost items.
8. Disproportionate liabilities to assets.
9. Mainly temporary employees.
10.  Fake socia security/tax payer identification (EIN) numbers used to
obtain credit.
11. L eased equipment.
12. Few local creditors; unsecured debt is primarily comprised of trade
creditors.
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5-10.3

5-10.3.1

5-10.3.1.1

13. Lulling letters to creditors (mail/wire fraud).

14.  No corporate bank account or existing account has no funds.
15. Cash paid up front to rent location.

16. Sameindividuasinvolved in previous "failed companies.”

17. Unusual banking activities (check kiting, bank fraud, money
laundering, structured transactions).

18.  Schedules and statement of financial affairsincomplete or not filed.

19.  Person unfamiliar with debtor's operations testifies at section 341
meeting.

20. Taxesnot paid.
21.  The same attorney repeatedly represents these types of debtors.

BLEEDOUTS

A bleedout is similar to a bustout, only it usualy involves an existing
company and a depletion of assets over arelatively long period of time by
insiders. There are often concealed assets or false statements in this
situation. Long-standing owners or corporate raiders can be perpetrators
of the crime.

Examples of Bleedouts

Corporate Raider Bleedouts

A stable company with very liquid assets, such as alarge pension and/or
profit sharing fund, is acquired in a leveraged buyout. The company is
operated for the sole purpose of allowing the insiders to loot the company.
A chapter 11 isfiled to alow the insiders to compl ete their scheme.
Business transactions are complex and purposefully confusing, which
makes fraudulent conveyance actions expensive and difficult to prove.
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5-10.3.1.2

5-10.3.1.3

5-10.3.1.4

Schemeisused in all types of industries.

"White Knight" Bleedouts

A business consultant is hired by atroubled business to assist it in acquiring
new financing and streamlining operations. On occasion, the "white
knight" is given an ownership interest in the business. The consultant takes
control of the financial operations of the business. He/she uses the position
to convert company assets, including failure to pay withholding taxes,
failure to make pension fund contributions, diverting receivables, paying
persona expenses with company funds, taking an excessive salary and
bonuses and, in some situations, paying false invoices to entities or
individuals related to him/her.

Pardlel Entities

A long-standing company experiences financial problems. Insiders create a
new business in the same industry just prior to or soon after the bankruptcy
filing. In some cases, a sale of some of the debtor's assets is made to the
new entity for afraction of their value just prior to the bankruptcy. The
non-debtor entity is usually not disclosed. The insiders operate the debtor
until they have successfully transferred the debtor's inventory, receivables,
customers, and good will to the new company. In addition, the insiders
may use the debtor to purchase goods and services for the new company
with the intent of never repaying the chapter 11 administrative creditors.
Thisisusudly alawyer-assisted fraud.

Insider Sales

Non-bankruptcy workouts in which misrepresentations are made to
creditors (mail fraud) and the assets are sold to undisclosed insiders for
inadequate consideration. Secured creditor agrees to the transaction
because its security position improves if the new company is debt free. The
scheme usually terminates in an involuntary bankruptcy.
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5-10.3.2 Red FlaggCommon Char acteristics of a Bleedout
1. Recent changes of ownership/new players.
2. People with no prior involvement in business have money

transferred to them, both prepetition and during bankruptcy.

3. Changes in accounting or cash flow practices for no apparent
business reason.

4. Payment stream to a certain creditor suddenly balloons.

5. Sudden decrease in inventory; sharp increase in aged receivables.

6. Inventory, equipment, and machinery are sold a short time before

the caseisfiled.

7. Capital infusions of corporate officers are renamed "loans' and are
paid back.
8. Excessive salaries and bonuses.

9. Complicated asset transfers with no purpose.
10.  Depleted pension funds.
11. Leveraged buyouts.

12.  Employee contributions for health care and pension funds are
diverted and converted for personal use by the debtor.

13. New company isformed just prior to or immediately after the
bankruptcy caseisfiled.

5-10.4 PONZ| (INVESTOR FRAUD) SCHEMES

A ponzi scheme (also know as a pyramid scheme) involves soliciting
investments by promising interest rates well above the market rate. Early
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5-104.1

5-10.4.1.1

5-10.4.1.2

investors recover their investments with the promised rate of return from
funds provided by new investors, and then in turn encourage othersto
invest. Asthe pyramid beginsto crumble, investors are unable to recover
their origina investments and interest is no longer paid. Chapter 11 cases
are often filed to alow the debtor to continue the scheme. When the
scheme collapses before bankruptcy, either a voluntary or involuntary
chapter 7 caseisfiled.

The essence of aponzi schemeis a promise of ahigh return on an
investment. Once it fails, many investors are reluctant to complain because
they redlize they have been swindled. It isimportant to identify the
investors; once they are contacted, they are normally cooperative and
provide valuable information and assistance in the investigation and
prosecution.

Examples of Ponzi (Investor Fraud) Schemes

Real Estate Schemes

Limited partnership interests and/or mortgages on residential property are
sold to investors. Thereal estate securing the investment is insufficient to
support the shares or interests sold. Funds are removed from the
investment properties through large management and general partnership
fees paid to insider companies. Investments are commingled. Numerous
and complex banking transactions make it difficult to trace funds.

Church and Ethnic Schemes

Anindividua solicits funds from members of his’her church or religious
faith. Investors believe in the individual because of his/her affiliation with
their church and, therefore, trust him/her with their money and to not make
appropriate inquiries. Likewise, members of ethnic groups are targeted by
members of their community. Shared language and ethnic background
allow the perpetrator to win the trust of his’her victims. Recent immigrants
are often targets of these schemes. In both situations, the victims are
reluctant to believe that their trust has been betrayed and, therefore, may be
unwilling to complain about the perpetrator.
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5-10.4.1.3

5-10.4.1.4

5-10.4.2

Overseas Funds Needing U.S. Investment

The operators of this scheme promise that they have an overseas investor
who needs aid in moving money to this country. They will pay avery high
return for the use of the victim's account and aid in transferring the money.
The victim has to put up money to help start the transfer. The overseas
investment never occurs.

Advanced Fee Swindle

Thisisavariation of a ponzi scheme. Either through advertisements or
direct contact, individuals or businesses in financia trouble are contacted
and offered generous loans. The loans require an advanced fee to
guarantee the loan and start the processing. The perspective borrower
pays the fee, the loan is not made, and the borrower isin even deeper
financia trouble.

Red Flags/fCommon Characteristicsin a Ponzi (I nvestor Fraud)
Scheme

1. Numerous contacts from investors/creditors about the case.

2. List of creditors, schedules, and statement of financial affairs show
mostly unsecured debt owed to numerous individuals.

3. No prospectus or the prospectus provided is untruthful.

4. Numerous complex investment vehicles, such as limited
partnerships.
5. Enormous management or general partnership feesto insider

controlled companies.

6. Monthly operating reports show income is from individuals with
little or no other outside income.
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7. Lulling letters to investors explaining that the delay in their
interest/loan/deal payment is outside the control of the manager
and, if they will be patient or continue to send money, the problems
will be resolved.

HEALTH CARE AND WEL FARE FRAUD

Health care and welfare fraud is prevalent throughout the country, and
there have been an increasing number of bankruptcy cases with these
problems. The perpetrators usualy file chapter 11 cases to alow their
activities to continue and to stall investigations of their actions. The
schemes generally involve obtaining funds through the promise of lower
cost, greater coverage, or some other inducement to convince either
individuals or companies to switch coverage to the new company.

Examples of Health Care and Welfare Fraud

Bogus Health Care Plans

Perpetrator establishes bogus or grossly under-capitalized insurance plans
to provide health care to individuals or companies at very favorable rates
with no intent to provide services or pay claims. Chapter 11 alowsthe
perpetrator to continue to collect premiums from the victims by paying on
afew small clams and stalling on the payment of larger claims.

Theft of Employee Contributions for Health Insurance

Employer deducts employee's share of insurance premium, but does not
remit the funds to the insurance company. Thisistypical in "bleedout"
cases.

Sham Facilities

Nursing homes, shelters, drug rehabilitation programs, and other health-
related homes are set up to secure federal and state funding. They provide
little or no services to the clients and convert funds received for their own
use. In some instances, the government funding programs require the
services to be rendered at no cost to clients. In those situations, the

August, 1997

Page 71



United States Trustee Manual Bankruptcy Fraud & Abuse Enforcement Program

5-10.5.2

5-10.6

5-10.6.1

5-10.6.1.1

perpetrators require clients to sign over food stamps and welfare checks to
them in order to remain at the shelter.

Red Flags/Common Characteristicsin Health Care or Welfare Fraud
Scheme

1. Numerous complaints of poor or non-existent services.

2. Adverse publicity by media about operations.

3. Investigations by state/federal regulators of operations.

4. Lack of normal books and records.

5. Unlicensed shelters, rehabilitation facilities, half-way houses, etc.

6. Deductions from employee paychecks for health care coverage, but
funds not remitted to the insurance company.

7. See also red flags from bustout schemes at USTM 5-10.2.2.

RENT/EQUITY SKIMMING

Rent or equity skimming involves acquiring the titles to multiple properties
with no intention of paying the mortgages. The perpetrator collects the
proceeds from the property, and then files a bankruptcy to stall foreclosure
and to alow the scheme to continue.

Examples of Rent/Equity Skims

Rent/Equity Skim

Anindividual acquires partnership interest or title to property, but does not
assume the mortgage. The perpetrator puts his’her management company
in control of the property. He/she collects rent, pays exorbitant
management fees, does not maintain the facilities, and makes no payments
to the secured lender. The lender is contacted by the perpetrator who
attempts to extort a buyout of hig’her interest. When the lender attempts
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5-10.6.2

to foreclose, the perpetrator deeds the property to a corporate entity that
files bankruptcy. The transfer of title is repeated several times, with
bankruptcies filed to cover all the transfers.

Property Title Skim

Thisfraud is similar to the one described above. The mgor differenceis
that the perpetrator convinces the victim to deed his’her home over to the
perpetrator for little or no cash. The victim then pays rent to the
perpetrator who does not pay the existing mortgage or seek new financing.
Bankruptcies are filed to delay foreclosure. 1n some instances, the
perpetrator will deed fractional interest of the property to other bankruptcy
estates, without their knowledge. This complicates and delays foreclosure.

Red Flags/fCommon Characteristics in a Rent/Equity Skimming
Scheme

1. Failure to make mortgage payments.

2. Transfer of entire or fractional interest to property shortly before
foreclosure.

3. Multiple fractiona interestsin real property listed on the schedules.
4. Frequent quit claim deeds transferring interest in the property.

5. Numerous "doing business as' designations and individualsin the
chain of thetitle.

6. Use of mail drop boxes as company business addresses.
7. Postpetition transfers into a bankruptcy estate.
8. New corporation formed holding a single asset.

9. Schedules amended to dramatically increase number of pieces of
real property owned by the debtor.
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10. Sameindividuad files claimsin large number of unrelated cases.
Proofs of claim do not have supporting documentation attached.

11. Debtor complains about the unusual and menacing harassment by a
creditor, and counsel takes no court action against the creditor.

12.  Unusua provisionsin cash collateral orders.

13.  Agreements by the debtor to modify the automatic stay to permit
foreclosure without any assertion that the lender is under secured.

CONCEALMENT AND FALSE STATEMENTS

The concealment of assets and related fal se statements constitute over 70
percent of all bankruptcy crimes according to the latest Federal Bureau of
Investigation statistics. A debtor who fails to list assets on his/her
bankruptcy schedules commits both the crime of concealment and false
statement. By concealing assets, the debtor attempts to preserve property
for future use and to deprive creditors of their fair share of assets.
Concealment may take the form of omission of assetsin their entirety or
the gross undervaluation of assets.

Examples of Concealment

Fallure to Schedule Assets

A debtor failsto schedule assets. Typical examples of assets not disclosed
include personal injury lawsuits, real estate, bank and investment accounts,
stocks, jewelry, art work, interest in non-debtor entities, etc.

Undervalued Assets

An asset islisted, but its value is grossly understated or deemed worthless.
The intent is to persuade the trustee and creditors not to liquidate the asset.
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Transfer of Assets Prepetition

A debtor transfers assets, with little or no consideration to third parties,
with the agreement that after the case is closed the property will be
returned to the debtor. The relationship to the debtor or the agreement
with the transferee is not disclosed.

Transfer of Assets Postpetition

A debtor sells or transfers assets without court approval. If the debtor
does seek court approval, the debtor does not disclose hig/her relationship
to or agreements with the purchaser. For example, the debtor sells
property below its value to a straw buyer who agrees to convey it back to
him/her. A similar situation is where the purchaser agreesto give the
debtor part of the purchase price "under" the table and court approval is
sought for the purchase at alower price to allow for the transfer.

Red Flags/Common Char acteristics in Cases of Concealment and

False Statements

1.

2.

Claims of theft or large gambling losses just before bankruptcy.

Inability to account for property listed on insurance policies or
persona financial statements in existence before bankruptcy.

Incompl ete schedul es--frequent amendments in response to creditor
guestions.

Unexplained changein financia circumstances.

Debtor shows no ownership interest in residence.

Tax returns not filed for the relevant years.

Debtor "confused" about his/her assets and financia affairs.

Unsecured debt does not reconcile with assets listed, e.g., large
number of medical bills, but no lawsuit listed.
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9. Failure to list prior bankruptcies.

10.  Significant amendments to list of creditors after section 341
meeting.

11. Complaints by ex-employees, ex-Spouses, or ex-partners about
hidden or omitted assets.

12. Fifth Amendment claimed on any issue.

13. Fire or other disaster occurs (of particular importanceif arsonis
suspected).

14.  Transfer of property to relatives or friends just before bankruptcy.

15.  Sudden appearance of loans or loan repayments to friends or
relatives with little or no documentation.

16.  Sudden change of attorney for no apparent reason.

COLLUSIVE INVOLUNTARY BANKRUPTCY

There has been an increase in collusive involuntary bankruptcies in which
creditors file an involuntary bankruptcy case at the debtor's direction or
with his/her approval. The collusive bankruptcy is often part of alarger
scheme, frequently involving real estate foreclosures.

In the typical collusive involuntary, the perpetrator has co-conspirators file
an involuntary for him/her or hisher corporate entity. The involuntary is
used by the debtor if he/she has been prohibited from filing for a period of
time. A bustout or bleedout perpetrator uses the involuntary to concedl
hig’her involvement in the case, where he/she isinvolved in a number of
pending corporate bankruptcies. The bankruptcy system is used to gain the
benefit of the automatic stay without information having to be disclosed
about the debtor during the involuntary period.
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Red Flags/fCommon Characteristicsin a Collusive Involuntary Scheme

1. Debtor who is subject to a 180-day bar on refiling has an
involuntary filed against him/her.

2. Creditors have recently acquired the claim asserted in the
involuntary.

3. "Professiona” creditors who reappear regularly in suspicious
sounding deals.

4. Same attorney isinvolved in the voluntary and involuntary
bankruptcies.

5. Creditors are "former" long-term business associates of the debtor's
insider.

6. Insider has filed several suspicious bankruptcy cases for corporate

or partnership entities in a short period of time.

STRAW BUYER/FICTITIOUS BIDDER

The debtor sells assets to a court approved buyer and the assets are
secretly resold at a profit pursuant to a previous agreement with the real
buyer. Where fictitious bidding is suspected, potential purchasers should
be required to state on whose behalf they are bidding.

Examples of Straw Buyer/Fictitious Bidder

Kickbacks

Aninsider agreesto sell assets to a purchaser who has agreed to pay the
insider akickback. The purchase price disclosed in the motion to sell is
less than the price agreed upon by the insider and the purchaser. When the
saleis completed, the debtor receives the difference between the court
approved price and the undisclosed sale price.
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5-10.9.1.2 Straw Sales
An insider wants to conceal his’her purchase of estate assets because
he/she wants to orchestrate the sale to allow him/her to buy the assets for a
depressed price. A fictitious purchaser or nominee is used to acquire the
assets. Once the sale is consummated, the assets are transferred to the
insider for afee. Theinsider and the purchaser do not disclose the
relationship to the court. Often times, both parties will make affirmative
statements claiming that there are no connections or agreements between
them.
5-10.9.2 Red Flagg¥Common Characteristicsin a Straw Buyer/Fictitious
Bidder Scheme
1. Pre-existing, undisclosed relationship between the debtor and the
straw buyer.
2. Sale terms are structured to prefer one bidder.
3. Inadequate or no effort is made to locate other purchasers.
Advertising is not placed in appropriate newspapers or journals to
reach potential purchasers.
4, Unusually high bid-protection or break-up fees.
5. High price offered, but broad terms allow the purchasers substantial
set-off rights.
6. Purchaser is represented by counsel with close ties to the debtor's
counsal.
7. Debtor interferes with potential purchasers due diligence efforts.
8. Short notice requested on sale because of "emergency" situation.
5-10.10 SERIAL FILERS
A serid filer istypically anindividual. The debtor files numerous casesto
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take advantage of the automatic stay to prevent foreclosure and collection
on other debts. The petitions usually contain false social security numbers,
variations of the debtor's name, or fictitious names. Chapter 7 and

chapter 13 cases are filed interchangeably.

Red Flags/Common Characteristicsin a Serial Filer Scheme

1. Debtor has filed a high number of casesin a short period of time.
2. Debtor does not disclose prior bankruptcy cases.

3. Debtor uses different counsel to file each case.

4, Chapter 13 cases never completed because of failure to fund plan.

5. Debtor had been prohibited from filing a case pursuant to 11 U.S.C.
§ 109(g).

CREDITOR FRAUD

Creditor fraud exists in the system, but is more difficult to uncover.
Typical crimes committed by creditors include filing false proofs of clam,
collusive bidding for estate property, and extortion or intimidation in
attempts to collect prepetition debt postpetition.

Examples of Creditor Fraud

Fase Proofs of Claim

A creditor files afase proof of claim in a bankruptcy case. A more
complex scheme is where an individua files proofs of claim in numerous
unrelated bankruptcy cases. Usually, the claims are filed in large cases
where objections to small claims will not be made because of the cost of
pursuing claim objections.
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5-10.11.1.2 Automatic Stay/Extortion

A creditor threatens, intimidates, and uses force against a debtor to have a
prepetition debt paid postpetition, notwithstanding the prohibition of such
payment by the automatic stay.

5-10.11.1.3 Fase Invoices

A creditor, with the debtor's knowledge, submits afalse bill for postpetition
goods or services which it has not provided to the debtor. Theinvoice,
thus, allows the debtor to pay the creditor its prepetition debt "under” the
table.

5-10.11.1.4 Secured Creditor Fraud

A secured creditor and the debtor agree to cure the defect in the lender's
lien through use of a cash collateral order. The defect in the lien is not
disclosed to the court, creditors, or the United States Trustee. Theinsiders
who have personally guaranteed the debtor's secured obligations are
usually willing to engage in this scheme. A similar scheme involves
transferring the debtor's assets to a non-debtor entity in which the secured
creditor has a properly perfected lien, but may be undersecured.

5-10.12 FRAUDULENT PETITIONMILLS

Theindividua running the mill is a self-styled, unlicensed financia
advisor/paraegal/eviction counselor, who solicits clients from foreclosure
publications or unlawful detainer filings. The perpetrator's advertisements
promise to help solve the financia problems of the victim. On meeting
with the victim (debtor), the "advisor” tells the debtor that matters can be
resolved--the eviction can be stopped, the mortgage rate can be lowered,
interest rates reduced, or car payments and repossession stopped. A large
feeis collected up front and the debtor signs papersin blank. The
"advisor" then files a bankruptcy petition for the debtor.

Often times, the debtor is not aware that a bankruptcy has been filed and
will not show up for the section 341 meeting. When the case is dismissed,
the "advisor" may claim to the victim debtor that a mistake has been made
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and, for an additional fee, it can easily be corrected. A subsequent
bankruptcy isfiled, many times with a dight change to the name or social
security number. In many cases, the "advisor" directs the debtor to make
mortgage/rent/car payments to him/her as part of the agreement and he/she
then converts the money to his’/her personal use.

Examples of Petition Mills

Financial Counsdling Skim

Homeowners whose properties are in foreclosure are contacted, usually
through the mail, by afinancial consultant. The consultant tells the
homeowner that he/she will find a new lender to assume the delinquent
mortgage. The homeowner is instructed to make mortgage payments
directly to the consultant. The perpetrator files bankruptcy, many times
without the victim's knowledge, to forestall the foreclosure and to maintain
the stream of income being received from the victim.

Property Title Skim

Thisfraud is similar to the one described above. The mgjor differenceis
that the perpetrator convinces the victim to deed the home over to him/her
for little or no cash. The victim then pays rent to the perpetrator who does
not pay the existing mortgage or seek new financing. A bankruptcy isfiled
to delay foreclosure. In some instances, the perpetrator will deed fractional
interest of the property to other bankruptcy estates, without their
knowledge. This complicates and delays foreclosure.

Petition Mill

The mill will hold itself out as an eviction counseling service, but instead of
providing actua eviction defense services, will file a bankruptcy in the
tenant's’owner's name to stay eviction. Often the tenant/owner does not
know that a bankruptcy has been filed or that he/she will be evicted once
the stay is lifted or the bankruptcy dismissed. The landlord/mortgage
holder will have avalid eviction repossession order, but must obtain relief
from the stay or wait for dismissal of the case to execute it.
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5-10.12.1.5

5-10.12.2

Scrivener Typing Services

Anindividual sets up a storefront office and advertises a scrivener service
that will assist individuasin filing a pro se, ssmple chapter 7 bankruptcy
and will prepare al the paperwork for alow fee. Names like "Attorney
Assisted Legal Centers' or "Paralegal Centers' are often used. Attorney
approved services are stressed. A debtor may or may not sign bankruptcy
papers in blank, and will usualy not pick up the bankruptcy document until
just before filing.

Legal Advice Typing Services

Many typing services will prepare petitions and schedules and will advise
the debtor of the law. The advertisements will state that the service can
perform the same quality of service as attorneys, but for less money.
Debtors file petitions and schedules pro se and do not disclose that they
were assisted in filing their cases.

Red Flags/fCommon Characteristicsin a Petition Mill Scheme

1. Pro se petition where debtor says no one assisted him/her, but the
debtor is clearly unfamiliar with the bankruptcy system.

2. A pro se petition is filed and the debtor denies filing bankruptcy.
3. Debtor failsto attend section 341 meeting.

4. "Face Sheet" filing with a single creditor listed, usualy the
mortgagee or the landlord.

5. Debtor facing eviction, foreclosure, or repossession notice.

6. Pattern of pro se debtors with identical paperwork asto form, style,
and general content.

7. Pattern of complaints from mortgagees or landlords.

8. Debtors or others have been solicited by petition mills that stress
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stopping evictions, etc.

9. Complaints by debtor that he/she has been making
rent/mortgage/car payments to athird party.

10.  Advertising in budget papers and using flyers to advertise
bankruptcy and divorce assistance at alow, fixed fee.

11. Imply that attorneys are supervising/approving the service.
12. Request payment of filing fee in installments.

13.  Assetsor ligbilities are not scheduled.

14.  Failureto properly fill out or file schedules.

15. Use of chapter 7 when chapter 13 is clearly feasible.

CHAPTER 5-11: GRAND JURY PROCEEDINGS

FUNCTION AND USE OF A GRAND JURY

The federal grand jury isabody consisting of at least 16 and not more than
23 individuals selected from the jury pool by the district court. Once 23
individuals are qualified as grand jurors, the district judge will select a
foreperson and a deputy foreperson from the 23. The normal term of a
grand jury is 18 months, although the district court may provide it serve a
shorter term. Certain special grand juries can have aterm of three years.

Grand juries normally meet at atime set by the United States Attorney. In
most districts, they will meet monthly for one to four days depending on
work load. Most districts have more than one grand jury qualified at one
time. When the term of a grand jury expires, any unfinished work is
normally transferred to the grand jury that takes its place.

The grand jury will hear evidence of possible crimes committed within the
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5-11.2

district. It has the authority to issue subpoenas for individuals and records
located anywhere in the United States or its territories. The grand jury's
authority to investigate is extensive and only rarely will courtsintervenein
itsinvestigations. U.S. v. George, 444 F.2d 310, 314 (6th Cir. 1971). The
grand jury investigation may consist of hearing a single investigator report
on the results of an investigation of a crime or it may involve months of
testimony, extensive evidence, and numerous witnesses.

The grand jury may not permit awitness to have an attorney or other
individuals with the witness in the grand jury room. A person under
investigation has no constitutional right to have the grand jury hear
evidence on the subject's behalf. Likewise, the person under investigation
has no right to appear before the grand jury. Asamatter of Department
policy, such evidence will normally be presented and, if a subject desiresto
testify before the grand jury, he/she will be alowed to do so.

At the conclusion of an investigation, if an indictment is warranted, the
United States Attorney will ask the grand jury to return an indictment.
Thisis normally done by presenting the grand jury with a prepared
indictment and asking it to vote on it. If at least 12 grand jurors vote in
favor on the return of the indictment, it isa"true bill" and it becomes a
formal charge once it is signed by the attorney for the government. While
the standard for the return of an indictment is probable cause, Department
of Justice policy is not to seek an indictment unless there is a reasonable
likelihood of a conviction after trial. If lessthan 12 grand jurors concur in
the return of an indictment, it isa"no true bill" and, in the absence of new
evidence or the rare case of the matter being presented to a new grand jury,
the investigation of that defendant will be ended.

SECRECY REQUIREMENTS OF THE GRAND JURY

Fed. R. Crim. P. 6(e)(2) provides that matters occurring before the grand
jury may not be disclosed to anyone, except as provided by the rules.
Thus, the Assistant United States Attorney and anyone assisting him/her
are prohibited from disclosing matters occurring before the grand jury,
except as otherwise provided in that rule. Members of the United States
Trustee's office assisting in a criminal prosecution may be put on a"6(e)
disclosure list" by the Assistant United States Attorney to assist in the
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investigation and prosecution of the case. Once individuas are on thislist,
they may be shown grand jury information. However, grand jury
information or information derived from it may not be used in any other
proceeding without district court authorization.

This obligation of secrecy does not apply to awitness called before the
grand jury, other than individuals assisting the Assistant United States
Attorney, such as case agents. Ordinary witnesses may disclose their
testimony to the grand jury and what they were asked if they so desire.
Often, witnesses are asked not to disclose their grand jury experience and,
in rare cases, the Assistant United States Attorney may seek a court order
requiring witnesses to keep the proceedings secret. A knowing violation of
Rule 6 is punishable as a contempt of court.

PROCEDURE TO SECURE USE OF GRAND JURY MATERIAL
IN CIVIL PROCEEDINGS

Fed. R. Crim. P. 6(e)(3)(C)(i) provides that the disclosure of matters
otherwise prohibited by this rule of matter occurring before the grand jury
may be made when so directed by a court "preliminary to or in connection
with ajudicial proceeding.” U.S. v. Sells Engineering. Inc., 463 U.S. 418
(1983); U.S. v. Baggot, 463 U.S. 476 (1983). Thisrule allows disclosure
upon a strong showing of "particularized need” in civil cases, including
bankruptcy adversary proceedings. In re Shenker, 157 B.R. 21 (E.D. Mo.
1993). It may aso extend to certain administrative hearings if they are
preliminary to judicial proceedings. Attorney disciplinary hearings are
included. Matter of Federal Grand Jury Proceeding, 760 F.2d 436 (2d Cir.
1985).

Due to the sensitive nature of disclosure issues, the United States Trustee
may not seek disclosure of grand jury material for civil proceedings without
the concurrence of the United States Attorney. The motion for disclosure
should be made by the United States Attorney because it may then be made
ex parte. Fed. R. Crim. P. 6(e)(3)(D). Otherwise, it will require notice
and a hearing. Disclosure before an indictment is returned is very unusual.
Disclosure has been authorized in cases where the grand jury investigation
discovered that assets of the
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5-12.2

estate had been concealed, and the assets were in the process of being
transferred to third parties with little chance of recovery by the trustee
unless there was timely disclosure.

CHAPTER 5-12: IMMUNITY PROVISIONS

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

11 U.S.C. 8§ 344 provides that "immunity for persons required to submit to
examination, to testify, or to provide information in a case under thistitle
may be granted under part V of title 18." 18 U.S.C. 88 6001-05.

Unlike the provision of the former bankruptcy law, there is no automatic
immunity for individuals who testify at section 341 meetings.

No testimony or information compelled, or other information derived
directly or indirectly from the compelled testimony or information, may be
used against awitnessin any criminal case, except for perjury or false
statement or otherwise failing to comply with an order. 18 U.S.C. § 2002.

PROCEDURE FOR SECURING IMMUNITY

While anyone seeking evidence through the provisions of title 11 can seek
immunity, only the United States Attorney for the district where the
proceeding is being conducted can make the required request for an order
from the district court compelling such testimony. 18 U.S.C. § 2003.
Requests for immunity may be started by any Department of Justice
attorney. Thisisnormally done using Form OBD-111 and sending it to the
Assistant Attorney General for the Criminal Division (Attention: Witness
Record Unit). Aninformational copy aso must be sent to the local United
States Attorney.

Before any immunity request will be granted, it must be shown: (1) that
the testimony or information sought may be in the public interest and
(2) that the person the order will be directed to has refused
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or islikely to refuse to provide the testimony or information on avalid
claim of the privilege against self-incrimination.

Except in emergencies, at least two weeks should be allowed for
processing immunity requests. If the Assistant Attorney General approves
the request, the local United States Attorney will be authorized to request
an immunity order from the district court. The United States Attorney
must also be personally satisfied of the need for the immunity order and so
certify to the district court.

Except in unusual circumstances, the Department of Justice will not
prosecute individuals who have given immunized testimony except for
perjury or false statements in the testimony.

Because of the procedural problems inherent in the use of immunity orders,
no such requests shall be made by Program employees without permission
of the General Counsel. Close coordination with the local United States
Attorney is necessary.

HANDLING IMMUNIZED INFORMATION

Immunity requests for proceedings under title 11 are rare. Once the
immunity order is signed, great care must be taken to segregate information
obtained directly or indirectly by that order. Solong as no crimina
proceedings are involved, few if any problems will arise.

In most cases, however, there will be indications of crimina activity. Itis
important to be able to show that any evidence used in the criminal case
against the immunized defendant was not derived directly or indirectly from
the immunity order.

1. The bankruptcy judge should be requested to enter a protective
order covering any testimony or documents produced through use
of the immunity order that requires those seeking access to such
information to identify themselves and the purpose for which the
information is sought and will be used. A record of all accessto
this information should be maintained.
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2. The United States Trustee should advise any person having access
to such information that they should not disclose its contents to any
criminal investigator, absent consultation with the United States
Attorney.

3. In case acrimina referral is made, no part of the compelled
testimony or information should be included in the referral.

CHAPTER 5-13: PARALLEL PROCEEDINGS

DEFINITION OF PARALLEL PROCEEDINGS

Parallel proceedings are defined as situations where both crimina and civil
investigations/cases are in progress at the same time. An example would
be where atrustee is conducting an adversary proceeding to recover
property in a chapter 7 case, while, at the same time, thereis a criminal
investigation of the debtor for bankruptcy fraud involving concealment of
the same ass&t.

NEED FOR PARALLEL PROCEEDINGS

Because both civil and criminal investigations and proceedings may
consume a great deal of time, it isusually impractical to hold onein
abeyance for any substantial length of time while the other proceeds to
conclusion. Thus, it isnorma for both criminal and civil casesto proceed
at the sametime. Due consideration must be given to both proceedings to
ensure that one does not improperly impact the other.

PROCEDURAL CONSIDERATIONSTHAT MAY ARISE

Before a criminal referral is made, al civil proceedings should be carried
out in anormal fashion. Where criminal conduct is suspected, no civil
proceeding should be undertaken for the sole purpose of securing criminal
evidence. U.S. v.